Kerry S. Doyle, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 10866 DOYLE LAW OFFICE, PLLC 4600 Kietzke Lane, Ste. I-207 Reno, NV 89502 (775) 525-0889 kerry@rdoylelaw.com

Electronically Filed Jun 03 2019 11:10 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Attorneys for Appellant

## IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA

JEFFREY D. SPENCER,
Appellant,

Case No. 77086

v.

HELMUT KLEMENTI, EGON KLEMENTI, ELFRIEDE KLEMENTI, MARY ELLEN KINION, ROWENA SHAW, and PETER SHAW,

Respondents.

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Kerry S. Doyle, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 10866 DOYLE LAW OFFICE, PLLC 4600 Kietzke Lane, Ste. I-207 Reno, NV 89502 (775) 525-0889 kerry@rdoylelaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant

## I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This action presents two consolidated appeals and primarily challenges three orders. The court has jurisdiction over the appeal on the merits as a timely appeal from a final judgment. *See* NRAP 3A(b)(1); NRAP 4(a)(1). Jurisdiction over the order awarding attorneys' fees to Mary Ellen Kinion is appropriate as an interlocutory order for which appeal may be taken after final judgment. *See Consolidated Generator v. Cummins Engine Co.*, 114 Nev. 1304, 1312, 971 P.2d 1251, 1256 (1998). The court has jurisdiction over the final order for attorneys' fees as a special order made after final judgment. NRAP 3A(b)(2).

#### II. ROUTING STATEMENT

As a tort case in which the judgment did exceed \$250,000, this case would presumptively be assigned to the Court of Appeals. NRAP 17(b)(5). However, as the appeal presents two questions of first impression, regarding the application of privilege to public comment before government entities and to claims for malicious prosecution, this case is more appropriately retained by the Nevada Supreme Court. (*See* 3 AA 565; 4 AA 824-25; 5 AA 1109, 1111-116, 1135, 1141-43; 6 AA 1451, 1461; 7 AA 1474, 1476, 1484-86, 1493-96).

#### III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the district court err as a matter of law when it granted summary judgment to Mary Ellen Kinion, and later the other respondents, after engaging in its own investigation, employing an erroneous interpretation of malicious prosecution, and making a credibility determination instead of considering whether a reasonable trier of fact could have reached a different result, ignoring the standard for granting summary judgment?
- 2. As a matter of first impression, does absolute testimonial privilege apply to statements made in public comment before a governing body, even if the privilege would apply in such a situation did the district court err as a matter of law when it applied absolute testimonial privilege to statements made to Spencer's employer, the Douglas County Planning Commission, and the Kingsbury Grade Improvement District, without a determination that the statements were relevant to a quasi-judicial proceeding?
- 3. As a matter of first impression, does absolute testimonial privilege apply to claims for malicious prosecution when it would mean that no such claim could ever be maintained?
- 4. Did the district court err as a matter of law by granting attorneys' fees finding a claim to have been frivolous when the claim was not dismissed but pursued to summary judgment and evidence was presented in support of the claim?

## IV. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

In 2012, the Jeff and Marilyn Spencer were having issues with some neighbors who are not parties to the action so they installed security cameras on their property. (4 AA 898, 902). Footage from those cameras showed Egon Klementi, a neighbor, walking in the Spencer's backyard and so they decided to put in a privacy fence around their property. (4 AA 903). While the fence was being built in May 2012, Jeff Spencer ("Spencer") observed Egon Klementi, a neighbor, appear to be taking pictures of the shirtless, teenage boys who were working on the fence. (5 AA 1158; 6 AA 1218). Not only did this solidify the Spencers' desire for the privacy fencing, but the Spencers angered Egon by calling the police to report Egon's activities, and that began the feud that continues to this day. (5 AA 1158; 6 AA 1217-18).

Egon, who has since passed away, lived in the neighborhood with his wife Elfriede. (4 AA 871; 6 AA 1252). His twin brother, Helmut Klementi, also lived in Stateline but not in the same neighborhood. (4 AA 871). Egon's anger caused many of the neighbors to pick sides; Mary Ellen Kinion, Dr. Rowena Shaw, and Peter Shaw were among the few on the Klementis' side. (5 AA 1158-59). Together, they began a letter writing campaign to have the Spencers' fence removed. (5 AA 1159). Dr. Shaw alone wrote to the Douglas County district attorney on numerous occasions, the Kingsbury General Improvement District ("KGID"), Community Development

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Klementis are referred to throughout this brief by only their first names to provide clarity.

Board Members, and code enforcement in attempts to force the Spencers to dismantle the fence. (4 AA 787-800; 4 AA 955).

As summer passed and snow started falling, the neighbors used Spencer's job as a snowplow operator contracted to KGID to provide another avenue of attack. Egon, Elfriede, Kinion, and the Shaws began reporting that Spencer was intentionally blocking their driveways with large berms of snow and ice. (1 AA 64, 87, 97, 132-33, 248; 3 AA 587-88; 4 AA 816; 5 AA 1002-1003). Although none of them could testify that they had seen Spencer berm their driveways, they made reports to his supervisors and comments at KGID public meetings hoping to get him fired. (*See id.*; 6 AA 1247 ("We want him removed from his position.")).

In a KGID meeting on December 18, 2012, Egon, Elfriede, Kinion and the Shaws complained to KGID "regarding a specific plow driver." (6 AA 1245-46). Egon alleged that Spencer had intentionally sped through the neighborhood the day before, dropping his plow blade just in time to splash snow into Egon's face. (6 AA 1246). Kinion claimed that she was outside at the time and saw Spencer with "a big grin on his face" as he turned the blade to splash Egon with snow. (*Id.*). Helmut attended the meeting, but did not make any comment. (4 AA 816-17). After the meeting, Helmut went home with Egon and Elfriede for dinner; after dinner, Helmut allegedly volunteered to go take pictures of the berm in Egon and Elfriede's driveway before he went home. (4 AA 817).

Spencer was not at the meeting. (4 AA 909-910). Spencer got home to his wife around 7:45. (4 AA 908-909). After reading in the newspaper about a rash of car break-ins, Spencer was shoveling his third floor balcony when he heard the snow crunching and could see a figure in moving in the dark near his driveway. (4 AA 908-909). Thinking that someone was trying to break into his truck, Spencer yelled several times, but got no response from the figure. (4 AA 909). He ran inside, telling his wife to call 911, and ran out his front door to the front porch. (4 AA 909). He yelled again for the person to identify himself. (4 AA 909). Still getting no answer, Spencer ran into the street in his stocking feet and collided with the person he later discovered was Helmut. (4 AA 914, 916-17; 2 AA 282²).

Helmut fell to the ground and started to yell in his native language. (4 AA 917). He tried to kick Spencer from where he was lying on the ground. (4 AA 917). Spencer yelled back, asking why he had not responded when Spencer yelled; "If he would have just said, it's Mr. Klementi, I'm taking pictures, then I wouldn't have came out." (4 AA 917; 5 AA 1062 (Helmut admitting that he never responded to Spencer, neither to identify himself nor to deny breaking into Spencer's truck)). Seeing that Egon had arrived to help his brother, Spencer told them that Marilyn had already called 911, and he walked back into his house. (4 AA 917).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The district court received a video exhibit that was made a part of the record as Exhibit 12 to Spencer's Supplemental Opposition to Kinion's Motion for Summary Judgment. (2 AA 282). Spencer has made a motion contemporaneously with the filing of this brief to allow the submission of that video in the appendix.

Helmut admitted that he heard Spencer yelling something about his truck, but he was trying to take a video so he did not respond. (4 AA 882). Helmut claimed Spencer had punched him in the left side so hard that he flew through the air, hit the ground, and lost consciousness. (4 AA 883, 885). Spencer, Egon, and the sheriff who responded to Marilyn's 911 call all disagree with Helmut's claim to have lost consciousness. (3 AA 681; 4 AA 917; 5 AA 1007, 1014). Helmut even claimed to the sheriff that he had heard a gunshot from Spencer's balcony. (4 AA 886). Despite the patently obvious misstatements of fact by Helmut, the sheriff determined, without thorough investigation, that he believed Helmut's version of events and arrested Spencer. (*See* 3 AA 670; 5 AA 1010).

Spencer was initially charged with misdemeanor battery for colliding with Helmut and two gross misdemeanors based on the false statements given by Egon and Elfriede in the days following December 18, 2012. (1 AA 108; 2 AA 338-39, 357-358). Helmut repeated his version of events to Egon and Elfriede, who repeated it to their neighbors, Kinion and the Shaws. (*See* 3 AA 590-91). Egon went so far as to claim to the sheriff that he had seen Spencer hit Helmut in the same paragraph as saying that he only went outside after hearing Helmut yell and when Egon looked Helmut was already lying in the street. (5 AA 1014). They all began to incorporate these false allegations of Spencer's violence in complaints to KGID and the Douglas County Planning Commission. (*See* 4 AA 787-800; 6 AA 1248).

Kinion repeated her false allegations regarding seeing Spencer use a snowplow to throw snow at Egon to the district attorney, made other claims in ex parte communication to the judge hearing Egon and Elfriede's motion for a protective order against Spencer, and otherwise interjected herself into Spencer's criminal prosecution. (1 AA 154, 248-49, 6 AA 1245-46). Dr. Shaw reached out to the Douglas County Planning Commission in advance of a meeting to warn them about Spencer and ask for increased security. (4 AA 798). Dr. Shaw felt so strongly that she sought to correct the record to ensure that the minutes reflected Helmut had said Spencer punched him. (4 AA 800). The district attorney testified that the comments made in public meetings influenced her decision to rephrase the charges against Spencer. (2 AA 371).

Helmut, Egon, Elfriede, Kinion, and Dr. Shaw made these false and defamatory statements to get Spencer fired, to get him convicted, and to discredit him in the community. (*See* 5 AA 1027, 1033). After months of their mudslinging, Spencer was acquitted on all the criminal charges. (1 AA 115-17). Not satisfied with that result, Helmut filed a civil complaint against Spencer for the alleged battery. (1 AA 1). Spencer counterclaimed and named third party defendants only in response to Helmut's complaint, resulting in the action that is the subject of this appeal. (1 AA 5).

## VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Helmut began this action in December 2014 when he filed a civil complaint against Spencer alleging claims for assault and battery, elder abuse under NRS 41.1395, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and punitive damages. (1 AA 1-4). Spencer answered and made a counterclaim against Helmut and named Egon, Elfriede and Kinion as third-party defendants for malicious prosecution and conspiracy to commit malicious prosecution. (1 AA 5-15). Over the course of discovery, and after changes of counsel for both Helmut and Spencer, Helmut amended his complaint and Spencer sought leave to amend his counterclaim/third-party complaint. (1 AA 172; 2 AA 423). Before Spencer had the opportunity to file an amended pleading, Kinion moved for summary judgment. (1 AA 45).

## A. Kinion's April 2016 Motion for Summary Judgment

Kinion filed her motion for summary judgment in April 2016, arguing that she could not be held liable for malicious prosecution because she had not been involved in the Douglas County Sheriff Deputy's decision to arrest Spencer and only responded to the district attorney's requests for information and testimony. (1 AA 45, 53-54). In support of her argument, she presented her own deposition testimony that she had participated in the criminal prosecution at the district attorney's request. (1 AA 50-51). In opposition, Spencer presented evidence that Kinion had made several false statements to the district attorney and other officials that lead to the amendment and increase of charges against Spencer. (1 AA 96, 97-99). In particular, Spencer

produced evidence of the criminal complaint as originally filed on January 16, 2013, and as amended on May 9, 2013, to include several additional and more serious charges. (1 AA 108-112). Spencer produced evidence that Kinion had made several statement to the district attorney suggesting that she witnessed illegal acts by Spencer that she later testified she had not witnessed. (1 AA 120, 248-49). And, perhaps most importantly, Spencer produced Kinion's testimony at trial in which she stated that the district attorney had not asked her to write a letter regarding the events she allegedly witnessed. (1 AA 151 ("Q: Did I ever ask you to write a letter? A: No.")).

Yet after hearing the argument on that motion, the district court "wanted to talk to the district attorney." (2 AA 289). The district court called the district attorney as a witness, held an evidentiary hearing, and questioned the district attorney himself. (2 AA 295-99). The district court allowed the witness to object to questions she was asked, introduce evidence that no party has sought or offered, and otherwise dictate how the hearing proceeded. (2 AA 306, 336-39, 343).

Through her testimony, the district attorney affirmed that Kinion had approached her, testifying "I remember meeting Miss Kinion at the Tahoe Township Justice Court and her expressing that she had some information. And I told her, 'You know, if there's something that you think is relevant to the case to please feel free to write something and send it to the district attorney's office." (2 AA 295, 307). However, the district attorney also testified that her decision to increase the charges against Spencer was based primarily on her review of Helmut's medical records. (2

AA 297). She also testified that an additional criminal complaint had been filed on January 16, 2013, alleging a felony of witness intimidation (based upon an allegation that Spencer had pushed Helmut in an attempt to intimidate him) and a gross misdemeanor of exploitation of an elderly person (which somehow had to do with a snowplow and the building of berms as a crime against Egon, Elfriede, and Helmut). (2 AA 338-39, 357-358). At the time she filed the original complaint, however, the district attorney testified that "the snowplow is not a huge issue. It's one of about six different factors. I included offensive language, violent conduct, yelling at Egon as he walked his dog, covering him with snow on the snowplow, piling berms at the end of the driveway . . . . So the snowplow itself, back in January, was one of probably eight other factors that constituted the gross misdemeanor of exploitation of an elderly person." (2 AA 365).

The district attorney emphasized that the only enhancement of any charge was the change from a misdemeanor battery against Helmut to a felony of battery causing substantial bodily harm. (2 AA 358). The district attorney testified that the January charges were based on the Douglas County Sheriff's report for Incident 12SO41608. (2 AA 361 (citing 1 AA 76-89)). The record contains a second version of a sheriff's report with the same incident number. (5 AA 1005-1018). Neither version of the sheriff's reports identifies Kinion as a witness to Spencer using a snowplow to throw

snow onto Egon. (1 AA 76-89; 5 AA 1005-1018). The district attorney testified that statements made at KGID meetings were used to support the criminal charges. (2 AA 371).

After hearing further argument, the district court granted the motion for summary judgment, stating "I believe [the district attorney]. I do not believe that the charge was enhanced by anything that Ms. Kinion did . . . ." (2 AA 407). The district court granted the motion for summary judgment based upon its own factual investigation and its own factual determination. (*See id*). Counsel for Kinion prepared the written order granting summary judgment, but nothing in that order addressed Kinion's active participation in the criminal prosecution. (3 AA 520-24). The Order relied upon a finding that "nothing Kinion did or said resulted in the charges against Spencer being enhanced." (3 AA 523). Neither Kinion's motion nor the written order contained any law supporting a requirement that her involvement "unduly influence" the prosecutor or result in the enhancement of charges. (*See* 1 AA 52-54 (Motion), 155-66 (Reply); 3 AA 520-24 (Order)).

# B. Kinion's First Motion for Attorneys' Fees

In March 2017, before an order was entered granting her motion for summary judgment, Kinion moved for an award of attorneys' fees and costs, arguing that Spencer's claim for malicious prosecution against her was frivolous and an award of fees was appropriate pursuant to NRS 18.010(2). (2 AA 446-70). Specifically, Kinion alleged that Spencer and his counsel had failed to perform an adequate investigation

because the district attorney's testimony allegedly disproved his case. (2 AA 449). Because of the alleged failure to investigate, Kinion declared the claim frivolous. (*Id.*) Spencer opposed, making clear all of the facts supporting the claims against Kinion. (3 AA 501-519). Specifically, Spencer outlined his reasonable, good faith basis for making a malicious prosecution claim against Kinion. (*See* 3 AA 509). Without hearing argument, without addressing the evidence proffered by Spencer, without acknowledging that the matter had proceeded to summary judgment before resolution, the district court granted Kinion's motion for fees and costs finding that Spencer had "no basis factually or legally to bring the claim." (3 AA 547).

## C. Second Round of Motions for Summary Judgment

In February 2018, after the dismissal of the complaint by Helmut against Spencer (3 AA 541), and Spencer's filing of his amended counterclaim and third-party complaint (2 AA 423), the second round of motions for summary judgment began. (See 3 AA 557-5 AA 1155). Helmut, the counter-defendant, and each of the third party defendants filed motions for summary judgment to resolve all of the claims remaining in the case. (Id.). Each of the motions made similar arguments that absolute testimonial privilege barred any tort claim based upon testimony in the criminal proceeding and any statement made before a government entity. (3 AA 565 (Shaws); 4 AA 824-25 (Helmut); 5 AA 1109, 1111-116 (Elfriede); 5 AA 1135, 1141-43 (Kinion)).

At the hearing on the motions, the district court appeared to have already made its decision. (6 AA 1400 ("We don't need a reply, unless I ask for it, because I feel that I'm ready.")). Stating that the only alleged wrongful statements were protected by "an absolute privilege to talk to the cops [or] to speak under oath at trial," the district court granted each of the motions for summary judgment in full. (6 AA 1451). The written orders, again prepared by the attorneys, relied upon the application of privilege to the statements. (*See* 6 AA 1461, 7 AA 1474, 1476, 1484-86, 1493-96).

## D. Grant of Attorneys' Fees to Kinion, Elfriede, and Helmut

After hearing argument on the second round of motions for summary judgment, and before any motion for fees or costs was made, the district court stated, "I am inviting attorneys' fees," indicating that he would grant motions for fees so long as there were in the same approximate amount that he had previously granted to Kinion. (6 AA 1453). Based on the district court's directive that it would grant any motion for fees made, Spencer did not oppose the motions as such opposition would have been futile. The district court, relying again on the assertion that Spencer's claims were frivolous, awarded \$42,820.30 in fees and costs to Helmut, \$21,081.23 in fees and costs to Elfriede, and an additional \$20,999.73 in fees and costs to Kinion. (7 AA 1701).

#### VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The order granting summary judgment to Kinion, and later other respondents, should be reversed because the district court applied an incorrect standard for malicious prosecution, improperly engaged in its own investigation, and granting the motion based upon its own credibility determination, ignoring the proper standard for considering summary judgement.

Because public comment is not a quasi-judicial proceeding in which statements are subject to challenge, absolute testimonial privilege should not have been applied to those statements. Even if such a privilege could apply to public comment, absolute privilege should not have applied in this case because the comments were not relevant to any contested matters before the governing bodies and some were made outside of the public meetings entirely. Claims for malicious prosecution should be excepted from the application of absolute testimonial privilege because otherwise no such claim could be maintained. The summary judgements based upon the application of privilege should be reversed.

The district court erred in granting attorneys' fees to Helmut, Eflriede, and Kinion under NRS 18.010(2)(b) because Spencer had credible evidence to bring his claims at the time he raised them.

#### VIII. ARGUMENT

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