Supreme Court Case No. 77086 District Court Case No. 14-CV-0260

Appellant,

v.

HELMUT KLEMENTI, EGON KLEMENTI, ELFRIEDE KLEMENTI, MARY ELLEN KINION, ROWENA SHAW, and PETER SHAW

Respondents.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

District Court, Douglas County The Honorable Judge Kosach Civil Case No. 14-CV-0260

McCormick, Barstow, Sheppard, Wayte & Carruth LLP Michael A. Pintar Nevada Bar No. 3789 Philip A. John Nevada Bar No. 10627 241 Ridge Street, Suite 300 Reno, Nevada 89501 Telephone: (775) 333-0400

Telephone: (775) 333-0400 Facsimile: (775) 333-0412

Attorneys for Egon Klementi, Elfriede Klementi, and Mary Ellen Kinion

I. <u>DISCLOSURE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO NRAP 26.1</u>

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

VIII. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court did not err as a matter of law when it granted Motions for Summary Judgment to Kinion and later respondents.

Spencer's primary argument on appeal is that Kinion's statements made to the District Attorney and KGID led to the amendment of the criminal charges against him. (1 AA 96-99). Spencer contends that the only reason he was charged for the gross misdemeanor charge of elder abuse is because Kinion lied to the District Attorney. However, there was no evidence to support this theory. As explained above, Ms. Pence made plain that her decision to prosecute and escalate charges had absolutely nothing to do with Ms. Kinion's letter or any actions by Kinion.

Moreover, in making this claim, Spencer confuses the snowplow incident involving Egon which occurred on December 12, 2012, with the assault and battery on Helmut that occurred on December 18, 2012. Ms. Pence testified her decision to

increase the charges against Spencer was based on her review of Helmut's medical records and how the injuries he sustained were much more severe than originally understood.

To succeed on a claim for malicious prosecution, a plaintiff must establish "(1) want of probable cause to initiate the prior criminal proceeding; (2) malice; (3) termination of the prior criminal proceedings; and (4) damage." *LaMantia v. Redisi*, 118 Nev. 27, 30, 38 P.3d 877, 879 (2002). "A malicious prosecution claim requires that the defendant initiated, procured the institution of, or actively participated in the continuation of a criminal proceeding against the plaintiff." *Id.* Nevada courts have addressed the "initiated" and "procured the institution of", but they have not addressed how a plaintiff may address the "actively participated" method.

1. The District Court Properly Found There Was Probable Cause

The Court was correct in finding that there was probable cause to charge Spencer. Nevada courts follow *Sheldon Appel Co. v. Albert & Oliker*, 47 Cal.3d 863, 254 Cal.Rptr. 336, 765 P.2d 498, 504 (1989), in which the California Supreme Court offered a persuasive rationale for the requirement that the court, rather than the jury, determine the existence of probable cause:

The question whether, on a given set of facts, there was probable cause to institute an action requires a sensitive evaluation of legal principles and precedents, a task generally beyond the ken of lay jurors, and courts have recognized that there is a significant danger that jurors may not sufficiently appreciate the distinction between a merely unsuccessful and a legally untenable claim. To avoid improperly deterring individuals

from resorting to the courts for the resolution of disputes, the common law affords litigants the assurance that tort liability will not be imposed for filing a lawsuit unless a court subsequently determines that the institution of the action was without probable cause.

Dutt v. Kremp, 111 Nev. 567, 572, 894 P.2d 354, 358 (1995), overruled on other grounds by LaMantia v. Redisi, 118 Nev. 27, 38 P.3d 877 (2002) (overruled to the extent that the opinion suggests that a plaintiff may claim malicious prosecution in the absence of a prior criminal proceeding). Under this test, the court must determine whether, on the basis of the facts known to the attorney, a reasonable attorney would have believed that the institution of the prior action was legally tenable. Id. This is an objective standard. Plainly here, there was probable cause. Mr. Spencer violently assaulted Helmut without provocation and his explanation to Deputy McKone was completely contradicted by the evidence. Moreover, Helmut's civil claims against Spencer were ultimately settled for a substantial amount confirming the veracity of the claims.

2. The Court Properly Held the Hearing with the District Attorney and Appellant Waived Any Objections to that Hearing

The district court held an evidentiary hearing with Ms. Pence to better understand what occurred in this case. Spencer did not object to the district court requesting Ms. Pence testify and, in fact, explicitly requested that Ms. Pence appear before the Court and extensively questioned Ms. Pence during the hearing. Spencer's conduct in this case is invited error, whereby a "party will not be heard to complain on

appeal of errors which he himself induced or provoked the court or the opposite party to commit." *Pearson v. Pearson*, 110 Nev. 293, 297, 871 P.2d 343, 345 (1994) After that evidentiary hearing, the district court properly held that there was probable cause for the criminal charges; indeed, violently attacking a 78-year-old man without provocation should be criminally prosecuted.

The common law affords litigants the assurance that tort liability will not be imposed on them unless a court subsequently determines that the institution of the action was without probable cause. In this case, the judge determined that there was probable. The district court further determined the deputy district attorney was not unduly influenced by Kinion when bringing these charges. In fact, Kinion had no influence on Ms. Pence at all.

Even if the district court determined that Kinion had some influence on Ms. Pence's decision to prosecute, which she did not because there was no evidence to support the theory, Kinion had a good faith belief that the information she was offering to Ms. Pence was true. The Restatement (Second) of Torts § 653 states that, "A private person who initiates or procures the institution of criminal proceedings against another who is not guilty of the offense charged is subject to liability for malicious prosecution if (a) he initiates or procures the proceedings without probable cause and primarily for a purpose other than that of bringing an offender to justice, and (b) the proceedings have terminated in favor of the accused."

Comment (g) of the Restatement deals with influencing a public prosecutor, and it states that, "A private person who gives to a public official information of another's supposed criminal misconduct, of which the official is ignorant, obviously causes the institution of such subsequent proceedings as the official may begin on his own initiative, but giving the information or even making an accusation of criminal misconduct does not constitute a procurement of the proceedings initiated by the officer if it is left entirely to his discretion to initiate the proceedings or not. When a private person gives to a prosecuting officer information that he believes to be true, and the officer in the exercise of his uncontrolled discretion initiates criminal proceedings based upon that information, the informer is not liable under the rule stated in this Section even though the information proves to be false and his belief was one that a reasonable man would not entertain."

3. The District Court did not apply an erroneous interpretation of malicious prosecution

As explained above, there was probable cause to bring criminal charges against Spencer, and thus, prong one of the malicious prosecution test is not met. Moreover, during the January 30, 2017 hearing, the Court questioned Ms. Pence to determine if Kinion played any role in Spencer's prosecution. Ms. Pence unequivocally explained that Spencer's letter played no role in the prosecution or the escalation of charges.

In the *LaMantia* case, the court found that "LaMantia presented no evidence that Redisi actively pressured or directed Teleview to improperly use the legal process

to proceed against LaMantia for an ulterior purpose other than resolving Teleview's legal dispute with LaMantia." *Id.* The same can be said for this case. Spencer did not present any evidence that Kinion had an ulterior motive other than bringing an offender to justice. Spencer's only evidence of Kinion having an ulterior motive was the fact that at the original snowplow incident the officer who came to investigate the incident did not make an arrest. However, Spencer provided no evidence or credible argument that Kinion believed her statements regarding the original snowplow incident were false.

4. <u>Kinion Had No Involvement in the Decision to Arrest Spencer and the Subsequent Decision by The District Attorney To Enhance the Charges</u>

Nevada Courts have also found that "[t]o recover for malicious prosecution, [plaintiff] had to demonstrate that police officers 'commenced the criminal prosecution because of direction, request, or pressure' from [defendants]." *M&R Investment Co. v. Mandarino*, 103 Nev. 711, 720, 748 P.2d 488, 494 (1987) (citing *Catrone v. 105 Casino Corp.*, 82 Nev. 166, 414 P.2d 106 (1966)). *Lester v. Buchanen*, 112 Nev. 1426, 1429, 929 P.2d 910, 913 (1996). In *Catrone*, the Officer alone recommended criminal prosecution, just like in this case, and the Court properly granted summary judgment. *Id. at 172*. Similarly, in *Lester v. Buchanen*, the court found that Video Express could not be held liable for commencing the criminal action because they merely reported information they believed to be true without directing or

P.2d 910, 913 (1996). This is all Kinion did in this case. She reported information that she believed to be true, and there is no evidence that she pressured or directed the police or district attorney to commence a criminal proceeding.

The Court found that there was not a want of probable cause, and therefore, it found that Kinion and the other third-party defendants could not be held liable for malicious prosecution.

B. The District Court properly applied clear Nevada law in determining that the statements of Kinion and Elfriede are privileged

Spencer alleges Kinion and Elfriede are liable for defamation because of statements they made to the Douglas County Sheriff Department, the Douglas County District Attorney, KGID, the Douglas County Planning Commission and/or the South Lake Tahoe Justice of the Peace. Notwithstanding, even if the statements were not true (they are), Kinion and Elfriede are protected by either a qualified privilege or absolute privilege because each statement was made in the context of reporting a crime or was made in a quasi-judicial or judicial proceeding. Summary judgment was properly granted by the District Court because each of the alleged statements were made by Kinion and Elfriede in a either judicial or quasi-judicial proceeding.

18

Spencer claims this is a matter of first impression, however, the legal issue of whether statements such as those allegedly made by Kinion and Elfriede are protected by privilege has been unequivocally determined by the Nevada Supreme Court.

1. The statements made to KGID and the Douglas County Planning Commission are entitled to absolute privilege

Nevada recognizes and follows the "long-standing common law rule that communications uttered or published in the course of judicial proceedings are absolutely privileged." Circus Circus Hotels, Inc., 99 Nev. at 60-61, 657 P.2d at 104; Nickovich v. Mollart, 51 Nev. 306, 274 P. 809, 810 (1929). The absolute privilege also applies to "quasi-judicial proceedings before executive officers, boards, and commissions..." Id. The absolute privilege precludes liability, as a matter of law, even where the defamatory statements are "published with knowledge of their falsity and personal ill will toward the plaintiff." Id. The policy behind the privilege is that, "in certain situations, the public interest in having people speak freely outweighs the risk that individuals will occasionally abuse the privilege..". Id.; Knox v. Dick, 99 Nev. 514, 518, 665 P.2d 267, 270 (1983) (holding that the privilege is applicable to quasijudicial proceedings so "the right of individuals to express their views freely upon the subject under consideration is protected.").

Spencer's contention that "neither of these authorities establishes immunity for statements made in public comment before a government body" is without merit. *AOB* pp. 17. The cases explicitly indicate that public comment on issues of concern for a

subject under consideration by a quasi-judicial body are privileged. The *Circus Circus* case applies the broad relevancy test, where the statements made to these judicial and quasi-judicial bodies only need to have "some relation" to the proceeding, so long as it has some bearing on the subject matter of the proceeding. 99 Nev. at 60-61, 657 P.2d at 104. If it has some relation to the proceeding, then the statements are entitled to absolute privilege. *Id*.

Like all General Improvement Districts in Nevada, the KGID is charged with maintaining roads in that community. In the winter, snowplowing is a major issue of concern. Because the manner in which the snow is plowed and the safety of neighborhoods and homes is of concern to residents, comments regarding snowplowing are relevant.

Spencer cites no authority that the public comment portion of these quasi-judicial proceedings are exempt from absolute privilege. Applying the broad relevancy test in *Circus Circus*, the comments made to the KGID and Douglas County Planning Commission were relevant and are entitled to absolute privilege.

2. <u>Kinion's Letter to the District Attorney is Privileged</u>

To be actionable, any letters or statements made by Kinion to the Douglas County Sheriff Department or the Douglas County District Attorney's office would have to be either knowingly false or made with reckless disregard for their veracity in order for them to be actionable. However, other than citing to his acquittal of the

criminal charges, Spencer has provided no evidence which would suggest the statements made by Kinion to police or district attorney are knowingly false.

Kinion's letter to the District Attorney is entitled to privilege. In *Pope v. Motel* 6, 121 Nev. 307 (2005), the court clarified its holding in *K-Mart Corp v. Washington*, 109 Nev. 1180, by finding that a qualified privilege satisfied the balance between safeguarding reputations and encouraging full disclosure by citizens "in order to discharge public duties and protect individual rights." *Id.* at 316-317. *Pope* held a qualified privilege existed so crime victims could report what they perceived as a commission of a crime and not to be subject to "frivolous lawsuits." *Id.*

3. Statements made in Court are Privileged

Spencer states that his defamation claims against Kinion are based upon a letter that she wrote to the Douglas County District Attorney and her testimony at Spencer's criminal trial. However, there is a long-standing common law rule that "communications uttered or published in the course of judicial proceedings are absolutely privileged so long as they are in some way pertinent to the subject of controversy." *Circus Circus Hotels, Inc. v. Witherspoon*, 99 Nev. 56, 60, 657 P.2d 101, 104 (1983); see *Drummond v. Stahl*, 127 Ariz. 122, 618 P.2d 616 (App.1980), cert. denied, 450 U.S. 967, 101 S.Ct. 1484, 67 L.Ed.2d 616 (1981); Prosser, Handbook of the Law of Torts, § 114 at 777–79 (4th ed. 1971). The absolute privilege precludes

liability even where the defamatory statements are published with knowledge of their falsity and personal ill will toward the plaintiff. *Id*.

C. The District Court did not err in finding that absolute privilege applied to malicious prosecution.

1. Mary Ellen Kinion

The district court originally granted summary judgment for Kinion on malicious prosecution after determining that there was probable cause to bring the criminal charges, and that the District Attorney was not unduly influenced by Kinion when bringing these charges. 3 AA 520-524. The order granting summary judgment on the malicious prosecution claim did not rely on absolute privilege, but instead, relied on the fact that there was probable cause to bring the original charge against Spencer, and that Spencer did not provide any evidence to support a claim for malicious prosecution. *Id.* As explained in Section A, the district court applied the correct standard for malicious prosecution.

Since the district court did not rely on absolute privilege for malicious prosecution for Kinion, Spencer cannot appeal this issue in relation to Mary Ellen Kinion.

2. <u>Elfriede Klementi</u>

The district court applied the factors set forth in *Harrison v. Roitman*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 92, 393 P.3d 1338 (2015) to determine that Elfriede had absolute immunity from malicious prosecution. 7 AA 1495. This Court has recently found that absolute

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